I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Holden-McDaniel Partners, LLC owns industrial property 

in Arlington, Washington. The property is located on the west side of 67th 

Avenue NE, which runs south to the city of Marysville. A large hill rises 

to the east of Holden-McDaniel's property (on the east side of the 67th). 

To the west, the BNSF railroad tracks run north-south parallel to the road. 

The property is sandwiched between 67th A venue and the hill to the east, 

and the tracks to the west. 

Until recently, the property was used to manufacture steel 

buildings - first by Holden-McDaniel itself, and more recently by its 

tenant, Bluescope, which took over the steel fabrication business in 2007. 1 

The principals of Holden-McDaniel Partners, Joe Holden and Lee 

McDaniel, have owned the property since 1986. They built their business 

with hard work and grit. 

Beginning in the 1980s, the hill to the east of Holden-McDaniel's 

property was gradually developed into a large residential community and 

golf course known as Gleneagle. Prior to Gleneagle, the hill was forested. 

But with development came clear-cutting, grading, and not surprisingly, 

increased stormwater runoff. For decades, Holden-McDaniel has been 

1 During many of the events described in this brief, Holden-McDaniel's steel 
fabrication business was known as HCI Steel. For simplicity, we refer to both entities as 
"Holden-McDaniel" or "Holden-McDaniel Partners." 
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plagued by flooding from Gleneagle's runoff and poorly designed 

infrastructure.· Despite the many failed attempts by the city and Gleneagle 

developers to fix these problems, the flooding persists. In 2012, the 

floodwaters caused Holden-McDaniel to lose its lease with Bluescope, 

costing it millions in damages. 

In this lawsuit, Holden-McDaniel seeks to finally put an end to the 

floodwaters that have burdened its land for decades. But it was denied that 

opportunity when, on April 24, 2015, the trial court granted summary 

judgment against Holden-McDaniel and in favor of the City of Arlington, 

the Gleneagle developers, and the BNSF Railway Company.2 

The superior court's ruling on summary judgment reflects a 

fundamental misunderstanding of the law and facts. It also relies on 

theories that no party advanced on summary judgment. For example, the 

court held that Holden-McDaniel's tort claims are precluded by a prior 

settlement agreement (which expressly reserved Holden-McDaniel's right 

to bring its current claims). The court held that the settlement agreement 

has res judicata effect - a theory that no party had advanced - despite 

there being no "final judgment on the merits" in the prior lawsuit. The 

court also misconstrued the report of plaintiffs storm water expert and 

2 The City of Arlington, Gleneagle developers, and BNSF are listed as 
"defendants" in the notice of appeal. Other entities are listed as "other defendants," but 
were variously dismissed from the superior court lawsuit or settled. 
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held, erroneously, that the flooding has only gotten better since the 

settlement was signed. Like the court's res judicata analysis, no party had 

advanced this theory on summary judgment. 

Because the superior court erred in its analysis of these and other 

issues, we ask this Court to reverse the order on summary judgment. It is 

time for Holden-McDaniel to have its day in court. And it is time for the 

defendants to end the repeated flooding of Holden-McDaniel's land. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment 

against Holden-McDaniel on the affirmative defense of release, CP 1:56--

58 (Conclusion of Law No. XVIII). 

2. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment 

against Holden-McDaniel on the affirmative defense of res judicata, CP 

1:58-59 (Conclusion of Law No. XIX). 

3. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment 

against Holden-McDaniel on the issue of damages, CP 1:59-61 

(Conclusion of Law No. XX). 

4. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment 

against Holden-McDaniel on its claims for intentional trespass and 

nuisance, CP 1:54--55 (Conclusion of Law No. VIII). 
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5. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment 

against Holden-McDaniel on its claims against the BNSF Railway 

Company, CP 1:55 (Conclusion of Law No. XI). 

6. The superior court erred in its evidentiary ruling excluding 

Exhibit II to the Declaration of Bryan Telegin (CP II:693-96), a letter 

from BlueScope's counsel to counsel for Holden-McDaniel, CP I: 14 

(Conclusion of Law No. III). 

7. The superior court erred in ruling that the limitations period 

for Holden-McDaniel's tort claims is two years, CP 1:55 (Conclusion of 

Law No. IX). 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether the parties' 1998 Release of All Claims - a 

settlement agreement that disposed of two prior lawsuits concerning the 

city's unlawful withholding of a building permit and flooding of Holden

McDaniel's land-precludes Holden-McDaniel's tort claims. 

2. Whether a settlement agreement, by itself, gives rise to res 

judicata, or whether res judicata requires a final ''judgment on the merits." 

3. Whether disputed issues of material fact exist regarding the 

severity of damages caused, over time, by Gleneagle's stormwater runoff, 

precluding summary judgment. 

4 



4. Whether there is a material dispute of fact regarding the 

element of intent precluding summary judgment on Holden-McDaniel's 

trespass and nuisance claims. 

5. Whether Holden-McDaniel's claims against the BNSF 

Railway Company are barred by the statute of limitations, RCW 

4.16.080(1 ). 

6. Whether BNSF owed a duty to Holden-McDaniel to 

maintain the ditch on the west side of the BNSF railroad tracks, which 

BNSF voluntarily allowed the city to use as a stormwater disposal facility. 

7. Whether the Bluescope letter is admissible under RCW 

5.45.020, Washington's Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act. 

8. Whether Washington's three-year statute of limitations, 

RCW 4.16.080(1), governs Holden-McDaniel's claims for trespass and 

nuisance against the city and Gleneagle developers. 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Origin of the Flooding Problem 

Between the 1980s and 2002, Gleneagle - and the vanous 

stormwater facilities that serve Gleneagle - were designed, approved, and 

constructed by several entities, including the Woodland Ridge Joint Venture, 
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the principle developer of Gleneagle,3 and the City of Arlington. From its 

inception, Gleneagle has created storm drainage problems for Holden-

McDaniel. The first flooding of the Holden-McDaniel property was reported 

in I 990 and has· continued in the years since, including I 994, I 995, I 996, 

I998, 2000, 2002, 2009, 20I I, and 20I2. See CP V:2038, ~ 5 (Declaration of 

Joseph Holden); CP 11:673-77 (deposition testimony of Joseph Holden). 

Until 2002, excess stormwater generated by the western portion of 

Gleneagle flowed into two detention ponds at Gleneagle's entrance on 67th 

Avenue. CP V:2058, ~ 8 (Declaration of Tom Holz). The lower pond ("pond 

WI") is located to the immediate east of the Holden-McDaniel property, on 

the east side of 67th, and the second (Pond W2) is located further east and 

slightly uphill. See id. Stormwater flowed from W2 to WI and then through 

a pipe underneath 67th A venue and into a culvert under the Holden-

McDaniel property. Id.,~ 9. Ultimately, Gleneagle's stormwater flowed west 

into a second culvert under the BNSF tracks, and then south via the BNSF 

ditch. Id. All of the stormwater generated by the western portion of 

Gleneagle flowed through the culvert under Holden-McDaniel's property. 

During this time period, Gleneagle's stormwater flooded Holden-

McDaniel's property from two directions. First, water often overtopped the 

3 The Woodland Ridge Joint Venture is a joint venture of two other defendants 
to this lawsuit - Kajima Development Corporation and the Arlington Country Club. For 
simplicity, we refer to these three entities collectively as the "Joint Venture." 
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detention ponds near Gleneagle's entrance on 67th. The water then flowed 

across 67th Avenue and flooded Holden-McDaniel's property from the east. 

As explained in the report of stormwater expert Tom Holz, this was due in 

large part to the increased volume of stormwater runoff generated by 

Gleneagle - which, in turn, was a consequence of replacing hundreds of 

acres of forest with the many impervious surfaces, lawns, houses, and golf 

course greens. See CP III: 1201 (report of Tom Holz). This runoff, coupled 

with the inadequate sizing of ponds Wl and W2, led to the repeated flooding 

of Holden-McDaniel's land via 67th Avenue. Id. See also CP V:2062, ii 19. 

Runoff from Gleneagle also flooded Holden-McDaniel's property 

from the west, where it backed up from the BNSF ditch. As discussed above, 

runoff from Gleneagle crosses Holden-McDaniel's property in an 

underground culvert. From there, the runoff is discharged to the ditch where 

(at least in theory) it is supposed to flow south and away from Holden

McDaniel. But the ditch is virtually flat; it has limited infiltration capacity; 

and it has been ill-maintained for many years. See CP V:2060, ii 14. In other 

words, the ditch is a "closed basin" where, instead of conveying stormwater 

south and safely away from Holden-McDaniel, the water pools and can only 

dissipate by infiltrating into the ground. Id. When too much runoff is 

discharged to the ditch, it backs up and spills onto Holden-McDaniel's 

property from the west. See id., at 2061, ii 16. 
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These two problems (inadequate sizing of the ponds and backwater 

from the BNSF ditch) both stem, in part, from a common design flaw - a 

myopic focus on the rate of stormwater discharge (measured in cubic feet 

per second, or "cfs") rather than on the total volume of discharge. In essence, 

the former is a measurement of how fast water leaves Gleneagle, while the 

latter is a measurement of how much water is released. As Mr. Holz 

explained, the rate of discharge is relevant primarily to the issue of erosion, a 

non-issue in this case. See id. at 2069-60, iJ 13. Instead, total volume is the 

core issue affecting the capacity of the ponds and the BNSF ditch to accept 

Gleneagle's runoff, and should have been the driving factor in designing the 

system. Id. 

But neither the city nor the Joint Venture ever assessed the impact of 

the total volume of Gleneagle's runoff on downstream facilities, including 

the ditch. See CP III:l 197-98. Instead, they only considered the rate of 

discharge, measured in terms of matching "pre-development peak flow." Id. 

According to Mr. Holz, that mistake was fatal and represents a persistent 

"blind spot" that has plagued the design of Gleneagle since its inception: 

Instead of adhering to arbitrary design standards, the 
proponents of [Gleneagle] should have acknowledged reality. 
As the proponents and the city well knew (or should have 
known), the BNRR ditch did not have infinite capacity to 
accept higher peak flows and greatly increased volume of 

nmoff. The proponent should have tailored its discharge to 
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actual conditions in the BNRR ditch. Instead, they attempted 
to meet an arbitrary and inappropriate standard of "pre
development peak flow" (using now discredited 
methodology). Discharge of ''predevelopment peak flow" 
assumes that the discharge is to a stream or river with 
adequate capacity to absorb the increased duration and 
volume of peak flow. Clearly this project did not discharge to 
such a waterbody. 

Id. at 1198 (emphasis added). 

The Joint Venture (and the city) used the wrong model for evaluating 

Gleneagle's runoff. The result: undersized detention ponds and the use of a 

low capacity ditch, and consequent flooding of Holden-McDaniel's property. 

B. The Building Permit Lawsuit and the 1995 Flooding 
Lawsuit 

In the mid-1990s, Joe Holden and Lee McDaniel expanded their 

operations with a new steel fabrication building on the northern half of 

their property. See CP V:2038, ii 6. They applied for and received 

permission from the City of Arlington. Id., ii 7. As a pre-condition to 

obtaining the permit, Holden-McDaniel agreed to relocate the culvert 

leading from 67th Avenue to the BNSF Ditch (so that it would not be 

underneath the new building). Id., ii 6. 

But the city later demanded that Holden-McDaniel not only 

relocate the culvert, but also that they enlarge the diameter of the culvert 

to handle increased runoff from Gleneagle. Id., ii 7. Holden-McDaniel 
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refused on the basis that the larger pipe would protrude above ground; 

create an obstruction across the entire width of the property; and seriously 

impede or prevent forklifts, semi-trucks, and other wheeled vehicles from 

using the site. Id. In essence, the larger culvert would have significantly 

degraded the utility of Holden-McDaniel's land. Id. 

On May 5, 1995, Holden-McDaniel sued the city for withholding 

the building permit. The suit sought injunctive relief (issuance of the 

permit) and damages. We refer to that lawsuit - Snohomish County 

Cause No. 95-2-03498-3 - as the "building permit lawsuit." The 

complaint initiating that lawsuit may be found at CP III: 1073-76. 

A few days later, Holden-McDaniel sued the Gleneagle developers 

for trespass by water (owing to the repeated flooding of their land), and 

later amended its complaint to add tort claims against the city. See CP 

111:1078-81 (complaint); CP III:1093-97 (second amended complaint). 

We refer to that lawsuit - Snohomish County Cause No. 95-2-03599-8 

- as the "1995 flooding lawsuit." 

The two lawsuits were consolidated and, ultimately, the city issued 

Holden-McDaniel's building permit (without requiring Holden-McDaniel 

to destroy the value of its land with a large, protruding stormwater pipe). 

See CP III:l 104--05; CP V:2039--40, iJ 11. Issuance of the permit 

effectively resolved the core dispute in the building permit lawsuit. 
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But while Holden-McDaniel had (belatedly) received its building 

permit, the flooding of Holden-McDaniel's land was clearly far from over. 

Consequently, when the parties drafted a settlement agreement disposing 

of both suits, Holden-McDaniel expressly reserved its right to sue the city 

(and others) for future flood damages except to the extent such damages 

arose out of the conduct challenged in the building permit lawsuit (i.e., the 

withholding of Holden-McDaniel's permit and replacement of the culvert 

under Holden-McDaniel's land). In particular, the parties' "Release of All 

Claims" provided: 

This Release does not release any future claims which the 
Plaintiff may have, whether asserting relief in the form of 
an injunction or other damages, against the City of 
Arlington, its agents, servants, successors, heirs, executors 
or administrators, or any other person, firm, corporation, 
association or partnership relating to the flooding on 
Plaintiffs property, except to the extent said claims arise 
out of the conduct described in the Complaint and 
Amended Complaints in Snohomish County Cause No. 95-
2-03498-3 [the building permit lawsuit]. 

CP III: 1107 (first paragraph; emphasis added). 

As part of the settlement, the city agreed to pay Holden-McDaniel 

$750,000. Id. This figure represented half of Holden-McDaniel's claimed 

damages in the building permit lawsuit, which flowed from the loss in 

productivity and increased costs associated with the city's decision to 

withhold Holden-McDaniel's permit. See CP I:389, iii! 4-7 (Declaration of 
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Joe Holden). In consideration for that compromise - and as stated in the 

release of all claims - Holden-McDaniel expressly reserved its right to 

bring future claims for flood damage. CP III: 1107. 

On January 3, 2000, the consolidated lawsuits were dismissed 

without prejudice. See CP III: 1111. 

C. Current Status of the Flooding Problem 

The building permit lawsuit and the 1995 flooding lawsuit came in 

the midst of a programmatic effort by the City of Arlington to solve 

Gleneagle's many persistent stormwater problems. The history of that 

effort explains Holden-McDaniel's willingness to settle the lawsuits for 

half its claimed damages in the building permit lawsuit. See CP 1:390-91, 

~~ 12-15. It also reflects the tangled relationship between the city, the 

Joint Venture, and BNSF. 

The city's effort to solve Gleneagle's stormwater problems began 

with the document that spelled out the Joint Venture's development 

obligations - the "Rezone Contract" executed in 1991. According to that 

document, the Joint Venture would fund, and the city would carry out, 

improvements to mitigate Gleneagle's downstream impacts. See CP 

III:l328-29, ~ 19; CP 1:390-91, ~~ 12-14.4 The city's effort continued 

4 See also CP 11:603 (deposition testimony of George Brown, President of the 
Arlington Country Club and one of the Joint Venture's 30(b)(6) deponents, lines 19-21). 
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with its decision to lease the BNSF ditch for disposal of Gleneagle's 

stormwater (and re-lease it in 1998 after the initial lease was cancelled). 

See CP VII:2615-18 (lease dated February 1985); CP II:769-77 (pipeline 

license dated Dec. 2, 1998). And it continued further with the city's 

actions that formed the heart of the building permit lawsuit - the 

unlawful withholding of Holden-McDaniel's building permit and attempt 

to force Holden-McDaniel to accept more runoff from Gleneagle. 

Following settlement and dismissal of the building permit lawsuit 

and the 1995 flooding lawsuit - and consistent with the parties' 

agreement and understanding that the city would remain "on the hook" for 

future flood damage - the city substantially modified the stormwater 

system serving Gleneagle. This project, known as the 67th Avenue "Phase 

II" project, involved a substantial re-grading of 67th Avenue; the 

installation of curbs and gutters; and, relevant here, the installation of a 

new detention pond (the "triangle pond") near the northwest comer of 

Gleneagle. See CP V:2059, ii 10; CP 1:391, ii 14; CP II:667 (deposition 

testimony of Lee McDaniel, lines 13-24). To reduce the flow of runoff 

from Gleneagle across the Holden McDaniel property, the city also 

According to the city's enforcement officer and 30(b)(6) deponent, the city's decision to 
take on responsibility for Gleneagle's stormwater impacts stands in stark contrast to its 
established policy that developers - not the city - must compensate for adverse 
downstream impacts. See CP II:606-607 (deposition testimony of Marc Hayes). 
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installed a pipe connecting Pond Wl to the new triangle pond. That pipe 

split the flow from Gleneagle in two directions, allowing some runoff to 

continue across Holden-McDaniel's property to the BNSF ditch, and the 

remainder going to the new triangle pond. CP III: 1195, 1202. 

Fatally, however, the city's project also involved lowering 67th 

Avenue in front of Holden-McDaniel's property and the installation of 

catch basins there. As a result, when the triangle pond fills up, storrnwater 

from Gleneagle runs backwards in the pipes beneath 67th Avenue and 

erupts out of the catch basins directly in front of Holden-McDaniel's 

driveway. Id. at 1200. See also CP V:2063, if 22. The water then floods 

Holden-McDaniel's property from that new, lower location along 67th 

Avenue. CP V:2041, if 15. 

In addition, the city's triangle pond failed to comply with the 

Washington Department of Ecology's 1992 Stormwater Manual. See CP 

I:73, if5 (Declaration of Thomas W. Holz in Support of Plaintiffs 

Response to City's Motion for Summary Judgment). In particular, the city 

failed to equip the pond with an overflow path. CP I:74, if 6. As a result, 

when the triangle pond fills beyond capacity, the excess water backs up 

onto Holden-McDaniel's property instead of being discharged to some 

other, safer location. Id., if 7. 
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There is no doubt that the current configuration and design of the 

vanous stormwater facilities serving Gleneagle (including the city's 

triangle pond) cause or contribute to flooding on 67th A venue and 

Holden-McDaniel's property. Indeed, the defendants' primary stormwater 

expert, Bruce Dodds, explains that 

... the reason flooding occurs on 67th is a combination of 
inadequate infiltration capacity and storage volume in the 
regional storage/detention/infiltration facility, the catch 
basin grate elevations near the north end of the [Holden
McDaniel] fabrication building, the configuration of 
structures in both ponds WI and W2 and the distribution of 
flows leaving those ponds ... 

CP IV: 1601. Experts retained by the defendants have also opined that, 

based on the current configuration of the various stormwater facilities, 

flooding may be expected to recur "approximately once every ten (10) 

years on average." CP 11:528. In short, the flooding persisted despite the

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