73528-4

73528-4

CASE NO. 73528-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HOLDEN-McDANIEL PARTNERS, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant.

٧.

CITY OF ARLINGTON, a municipal corporation; WOODLAND RIDGE, a joint venture; KAJIMA DEVELOPMENT CORP., a joint venture; ARLINGTON COUNTRY CLUB, INC., a joint venture; BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY, a Delaware corporation,

Defendants/Respondents,

٧.

HOMESTREET BANK, formerly known as CONTINENTAL SAVINGS BANK; BANNER CORPORATION, formerly known as FIRST SAVINGS BANK OF WASHINGTON; VINE STREET FUND, LLC; U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a subsidiary of U.S. BANCORP; SEATTLE MORTGAGE COMPANY; PBW, LLC; GLENEAGLE COUNTRY CLUB ASSOCIATION,

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

The parties did, however, submit copious amounts of briefing and evidence, some of which was stricken.¹⁰ The City, for its part, moved for summary judgment on the issues of the release, certain other claims and theories, as well as the absence of provable damages. The parties then spent a full day arguing the motions to the Honorable George Appel.

After careful consideration, he issued a detailed 22-page written Order. In it, he found that the release did contemplate future flooding – any other result would be inconsistent with its plain language and purpose. CP I: 21-22. And in exchange for \$750,000, the Partnership effectively monetized its damage (*i.e.*, flooding as frequent as every three years). CP

¹⁰ For example, Don Moody—having had his first opinion thoroughly discredited—sought to offer a new opinion related to "stigma damages." The Court struck it as untimely and inappropriate. CP I: 15-18.

I: 24. Because this settlement resolved the litigation, *res judicata* attached. CP I: 22-23.

This Order is not only consistent with the case law and supported by the record, it is just plain right. It should be affirmed.

III. ARGUMENT

This wrongdoing alleged by the Partnership was litigated and resolved in 1998, then the Partnership re-filed, and the issues were relitigated. The only differences between 1995 and 2011 are (a) \$750,000 and (b) an improvement in the flooding condition. The trial court was right to disallow this second bite at the apple.

The Partnership betrays its problematic position at the outset by sandbagging on appeal. The Court can search the record high and low; it will not find a single instance in which the Partnership suggested to the trial court that interpretation of the release was a factual issue. Rather, it consistently argued that interpretation was an *issue of law* for the trial court. The all-or-nothing argument having not panned out, the Partnership now repeatedly argues "triable issue." Br. at 19-20, 22, 27. It is unfair to the parties and the trial court for the Partnership to claim the superior court erred "[b]y taking these issues away from the jury," (Br. at 27), when the Partnership never wanted a jury in the first place. *See* RAP 2.5.

Even if the Court reaches the un-ripened issue—though, it should not—the outcome would be the same. The Partnership claims that the exhibit attached to the 1995 complaint is "extrinsic evidence" (*i.e.*, its "factual issue"). But, according to Civil Rule 10 and Supreme Court precedent, this is just plain wrong. The exhibit was part of the complaint itself. *See P.E. Sys., LLC v. CPI Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 198, 204, 289 P.3d 638 (2012) ("the contract does become part of the [complaint] by simply attaching it."). It follows that the conduct described in it *was* conduct described in the complaint for purposes of the release, especially when considered in light of Washington's "strong presumption of finality as to the settlement," *Niven v. E.J. Bartells Co.*, 97 Wn. App. 507, 512-13, 983 P.2d 1193, 1196 (1999), and express purpose of the release: "to buy peace." CP III: 1366.

Nor did the trial court err in applying *res judicata*. It was, rather, applying settled law. *See, e.g., In re Phillips' Estate*, 46 Wn.2d 1, 13-14, 278 P.2d 627 (1955) ("A compromise or settlement is res judicata of all matters relating to the subject matter of the dispute.") (citing *McClure v. Calispell Duck Club*, 157 Wash. 136, 288 P. 217 (1930)). Finality, in the context of *res judicata*, requires only that an outcome be "not tentative, provisional, or contingent and represent the completion of all steps in the

¹¹ The Partnership cites *P.E. Systems* for boilerplate (Br. at 29), but curiously omits the relevant portion.

adjudication of the claim by the court." *Ensley v. Pitcher*, 152 Wn. App. 891, 900-901, 222 P.3d 99 (2009). ¹² As the trial court correctly found, the outcome of the 1995 litigation was final; the parties *could have* had their suit disposed of if they had "presented and managed their respective cases." CP I: 22-23 (citing *Pederson v. Potter*, 103 Wn, App. 62, 68-70, 11 P.3d 833 (2000)). Instead, the Partnership accepted money, settled, and the case was dismissed. There was nothing unfair about the trial court precluding it from starting all over again. This is why *res judicata* exists.

This outcome is only supported by the fact that conditions since 1995 have improved; a fact acknowledged by the Partnership and its experts to varying degrees. Moreover, none have causally linked anything the City did to any particular event, increase in severity, or damage to the property. Thus, any damages the Partnership would be seeking now are speculative, compensated in the first lawsuit, or both.

Summary judgment should be affirmed.

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. *See*, *e.g.*, *Roger Crane* & *Associates v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 773, 875 P.2d 705 (1994). The judgment of the trial court will not be reversed when it can be sustained on

-21-

¹² The Partnership wholly omits this body of law.

any basis fairly supported by the record. *See Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co.*, 194 Wn.2d 751, 758, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985).

The trial court's decisions to strike a hearsay document and deny a reconsideration motion are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Engstrom v. Goodman*, 166 Wn. App. 905, 910, 271 P.3d 959 (2012) (affirming motion to strike); *Davies v. Holy Family Hosp.*, 144 Wn. App. 483, 497, 183 P.3d 283, 290 (2008) (affirming denial of reconsideration).

B. The Partnership's Newly-Minted Suggestion That Interpretation Of The Release Constitutes A "Jury Question" Should Not Be Considered For The First Time On Appeal

RAP 2.5(a) provides that the Court of Appeals may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court first. *See also Martin v. Johnson*, 141 Wn. App. 611, 617, 170 P.3d 1198 (2007) (refusing to review issue that trial court did not have opportunity to rule on first); *Re v. Tenney*, 56 Wn. App. 394, 400, 783 P.2d 632 (1989) (same); *see also McPhail v. Municipality of Culebra*, 598 F.2d 603, 607 (1st Cir. 1979) ("party may not 'sandbag' his case by presenting one theory to the trial court and then arguing for another on appeal.").

Here, there can be—and will be—no dispute that the Partnership is rewriting its position on appeal. Below, it swung for the fences, agreeing with the City that interpretation of the settlement was an issue of law to be decided by the court. In fact, the Partnership brought its own summary

judgment motion on that basis, never arguing that there was extrinsic evidence, conflicting inferences, or a material fact. That strategy having failed, the Partnership now cites error in taking the issue away from a jury it never asked for. *See* Br. at 27.

There are several problems. **First**, this deprives the other parties of an opportunity to marshal a factual record. Had the Partnership claimed below that the "circumstances" of the attached exhibit constituted a factual question, the other parties could have tried to pin it down through (1) written and oral discovery to the Partnership, (2) a deposition of the attorney who attached the exhibit, and (3) exploration of whether the Partnership may put the motives and intent its 1998 counsel at issue and still maintain privilege. None of these stones may be uncovered now, on a closed-record appeal. Second, new arguments on appeal are unfair to the trial court. Judge Appel accepted thousands of pages of briefing and submittals, and gave the parties an entire court day to argue their case. He then carefully reviewed it all before crafting a detailed order. ¹³ To now ask the appellate to reverse the trial court on a ground never even presented does it a great disservice. See Haslund v. City of Seattle, 86 Wn.2d 607, 614, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976) ("The trial court, in our view, should have had the benefit of vigorous and detailed objections... giving it

¹³ The rules would have permitted Judge Appel to limit the parties briefing, decline oral argument, and enter a form order with no analysis.

an opportunity to correct the error, if any."). Third, permitting this practice creates an undeniable opening for gamesmanship—with our case presenting a good illustration. The Partnership took a categorical position: the settlement should be interpreted in its favor, and the City's affirmative defense should be struck. This was a reasonable tactical choice, to be sure. The Partnership did not have to dilute its arguments with counterproductive claims about "factual issues," and, had it prevailed, the entire defense would have been out of the case. But the trial court went the other way. An appeal is not an appropriate time to march out new arguments to replace old one. And *lastly*, even if the Partnership was correct about a "jury question"—though, it is not—the trial court could have rendered that conclusion if given the opportunity. This would have spared the parties (and this Court) the considerable time and resources of an appeal. It also would have avoided the inevitable prejudice of lost witnesses, diminished memory, and disappearing evidence.

In short, the Partnership's new argument on appeal is not "no harm, no foul." It is harmful, and this Court should decline to analyze for "issues of material fact" for that reason. The inquiry should instead be the same as that of the trial court, *Roger Crane & Associates v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 773, 875 P.2d 705 (1994), which is a binary decision between two competing interpretations of the settlement agreement.

C. The Partnership's Proposed Interpretation Of The Release Violates Nearly Every Canon Known To The Case Law

Settlements are construed broadly:

[W]hen a person signs a release knowing that he has been injured he assumes some risk that his condition may worsen.... He knowingly takes a gamble in agreeing to a settlement. This risk that circumstances will change is inherent in the settlement process. If we allowed a challenge to the validity of the releases in these cases, we would severely impair the policy favoring private settlements and promoting their finality. In every case where the known circumstances of the injury changed after settlement, the validity of the release would be open to question...

Bennett v. Shinoda Floral, Inc., 108 Wn.2d 386, 395-96, 739 P.2d 648 (1987).

Settlement agreements between private parties are viewed with finality. *Paopao v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 145 Wn. App. 40, 48, 185 P.3d 640, 645 (2008); *see also Oregon Mut. Ins. Co. v. Barton*, 109 Wn. App. 405, 414, 36 P.3d 1065, 1069 (2001) ("The law favors the private settlement of disputes and is inclined to view them with finality... the state's interest in fully compensating accident victims was secondary to the prevailing interest in the finality of settlements"); *Stottlemyre v. Reed*, 35 Wn. App. 169, 173, 665 P.2d 1383 (1983) (noting interest in "finality of settlements"); *Snyder v. Tompkins*, 20 Wn. App. 167, 173, 579 P.2d 994 (1978) ("The law favors the amicable settlement of disputes, and

is inclined to view them with finality.") (citing *Wool Growers Serv. Corp.* v. Simcoe Sheep Co., 18 Wn.2d 655, 690, 140 P.2d 512 (1943)).

As here, the presence of a release is "generally given great weight in establishing the finality of a settlement." *Jain v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.*, 130 Wn.2d 688, 693, 926 P.2d 923 (1996). So long as the entity being released is "clearly identified," there is a "strong presumption of finality as to the settlement." *Niven v. E.J. Bartells Co.*, 97 Wn. App. 507, 512-13, 983 P.2d 1193, 1196 (1999). This principle makes sense as a practical matter. No rational party would settle to "buy their peace," if courts took a narrow view of what "peace" actually was.

The question is, therefore, one of competing interpretations:

The City's Interpretation. The release protects the City from liability for pre-release flooding, as well as flooding which arises out of the litigated subject matter and any damages caused by the City's delay in issuing their permit.

The Partnership's Interpretation. The City paid \$750,000 with the understanding that, should the property flood the following day, the exact same lawsuit could be brought alleging the exact same wrongdoing.

Contract interpretation is a question of law. *Mega v. Whitworth Coll.*, 138 Wn. App. 661, 672, 158 P.3d 1211, 1216 (2007); *State v. Chambers*, 81 Wn. 2d 929, 931, 506 P.2d 311 (1973).

1. The Partnership's Interpretation Disregards Plain Language

The Partnership conspicuously fails to address the fact that the settlement agreement makes virtually no sense if given its proposed meaning. In purportedly settling a "building permit lawsuit," it somehow released claims related to "permanent and progressive injury" and those based upon "unknown future property damage." CP III: 1366. This language speaks only to flooding allegations, not permit delay. *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d at 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) (plain language controls unless ambiguous). Indeed, Mr. Holden emphatically stated as much in his declaration statement about damages related to the permit claims. *See* CP I: 390 ("it is clear from our interrogatory answers that these damages were *not* related to permanent property damage") (emphasis in original).

The same is true of the language about "the nature, extent, effect, and duration of said injuries," *id.*, in a permit dispute. A permit dispute does not cause injuries of lasting "duration." *See id.* The duration language is directed toward flooding (which the Partnership itself alleged *was* permanent), and addressed the near-certainty that the problem would not stop by virtue of the parties executing a settlement document.

The Partnership now claims that the "reservation of future flooding claims" was based upon an unspoken promise by the City to accept

permanent responsibility for the Partnership's flooding problem. Br. at 13. This is flatly contradicted by its settlement's plain language. The City settled "... for the *sole consideration* of SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND AND NO/100 DOLLARS..." CP III: 1366 (emphasis added). The Court may not go outside of this unambiguous language—such as "sole consideration"—to "vary, contradict or modify" it. *See Freestone Capital Partners L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I, LLC*, 155 Wn. App. 643, 672, 230 P.3d 625 (2010).

2. <u>The Partnership's Interpretation Renders Other Language</u> <u>In The Release Nonsensical</u>

The settlement broadly contemplates a release of future *flooding* claims that "arise out of the conduct described in the Complaint" in Cause No. 95-2-03498-3. CP III: 1366. If, as the Partnership claims, the complaint was "only about a building permit dispute," one certainly wonders what manner of future flood could "arise out of it," and why the parties were concerned about it. The fact is a flood would not— and could not— arise out of the revocation of a building permit; the Partnership's interpretation renders the "exception" language wholly meaningless. *See Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Westlake Park Associates*, 42 Wn. App. 269, 274, 711 P.2d 361 (1985) (contracts should be construed to avoid interpretations that would fail to give effect to contractual terms).

The Partnership belatedly came up with an explanation on reconsideration (which it now half-heartedly presents in a footnote). It claimed that the exception in the release was actually intended to single out future flooding caused by its undersized pipe, which was one of the City's concerns in the building permit lawsuit. The problem with this theory—besides being raised for the first time on reconsideration, see CR 59; Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Institute, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005) (disallowing alternative theories on reconsideration)—was that the City already had this benefit at the time of the 1998 settlement. Early in the first litigation, the City permitted the Partnership to retain its undersized pipe on the condition that it sign a hold-harmless agreement related to it. CP III: 1364 ("HCI hereby agrees to hold Arlington harmless from any damages occurring to HCI as a result of Arlington authorizing HCI to... reinstall a 24" x 36" drain pipe across HCI's property... to the extent that a 24" x 36" drain pipe is inadequate") (emphasis added). Thus, when the parties settled in 1998, the City's future interests were already protected vis-à-vis the pipe. There would have been no reason to redundantly single this category of claims and re-release them, when the City was already held-harmless. Symbolic and meaningless acts are not assumed in the context of interpretation. See Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Tacoma Yellow Cab Co., 31 Wn. App. 117, 124, 639 P.2d 843, 847

(1982); see also Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Westlake Park Associates, 42 Wn. App. 269, 274, 711 P.2d 361 (1985).

3. The Partnership's Interpretation Is Antithetical To The
Parties' Express Intention and Requirement That Releases
Be Construed In Favor of Resolution

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